



TRYING TO FEED THE WORLD WITHOUT DESTROYING IT

The Problems with Modern Agriculture and the Potential of Agroforestry as Part of the Solution

Abstract

Industrial agriculture is an important driver in climate change, biodiversity loss, and soil erosion by removing itself from ecological principles of circularity – i.e. away from a system of equal inputs and outputs – and instead focusing primarily on short term profits. Here, agroforestry is provided as a framework to help mitigate the environmental impacts of industrial agriculture: via its carbon sequestration potential; via its ability to provide habitat for important species; and via its ability to improve soil functionality and structure. In addition, agroforestry may improve the climate resilience of agricultural systems, for example by regulating temperature, nutrient and water cycles, and providing means of pest control. This perspective first provides a partial problem analysis of industrial agriculture. It then utilizes a literature review of agroforestry, to help determine the extent to which agroforestry can help lessen the impacts of food production upon the environment. Based upon this analysis, this review concludes that agroforestry practices, such as silvopasture and buffer strips, are economically viable and can be used within agricultural systems to promote biodiversity and soil quality, whilst reducing climate impact. However, policy change, education and knowledge sharing will be required for the realization of large scale agroforestry practices.

Layman Summary

The purpose of this study was to identify the environmental benefits that agroforestry may provide, and how agroforestry may be implemented into agricultural systems. First, a problem analysis of industrial agriculture was conducted, in order to clearly define the main problems in this system with regards to climate change, soil erosion and biodiversity loss. Then, a literature review of agroforestry was conducted, where agroforestry is defined as the purposeful planting of trees and shrubs within farming systems. Intensive agriculture is today damaging to the environment, and solutions are required: here, agroforestry is proposed as a partial solution. Agroforestry systems provide direct environmental benefits, such as: promoting biodiversity via the provision of increased habitat and resources; slowing climate change by carbon sequestration; improving soil quality by reducing soil erosion and via the addition of nutrients and soil carbon. Agroforestry may further promote environmental benefits indirectly: for example, agricultural systems may require less artificial fertilizers and pesticides. Agroforestry has been identified as an economically viable system, that is relatively easy to establish, promotes good yields whilst also providing many environmental benefits. Agroforestry has therefore been recommended as a tool to use in agricultural systems to help lower the environmental impacts of agriculture.

Dodds, B.K. (Bethany) b.k.dodds@students.uu.nl Student ID: 9616509 MSc: Bio-Inspired Innovation Supervisor: Prof. Dr. G. A. Kowalchuk Second reviewer: Dr. P. Krijgsheld

Table of Contents

Abstract and title page	0
Acknowledgments	2
List of Abbreviations	3
Section 1: Introduction	4
Section 2: Problem Analysis	6
2.1: Industrial Agriculture and Climate Change	6
2.2: Industrial Agriculture and Biodiversity	7
2.3: Industrial Agriculture and Soil Erosion	9
2.4: Problem Analysis Conclusion1	1
Section 3: Agroforestry as a Mitigation against Climate change, Biodiversity Loss and Soil Erosion1	3
3.1: Agroforestry and Climate Change Mitigation1	4
3.2: Agroforestry and Biodiversity1	5
3.3: Agroforestry and Soil Restoration1	7
3.4: Implementation of Agroforestry1	7
Section 4: Discussion and Conclusion1	9
References	1

ſ

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Prof. Dr. George Kowalchuk for his support over the weeks with this writing assignment. His insight and expertise provided valuable knowledge for this essay, and his guidance was essential in completing this.

I would also like to thanks Dr. Pauline Krijgsheld, for her support and guidance prior to the beginning of the writing assignment. I would also like to thank her for agreeing to be the second examiner for this assignment.

List of Abbreviations

AF – Agroforestry
AMF – Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi
CO ₂ – Carbon Dioxide
$CO_2 eq - CO_2$ equivalent
CH ₄ – Methane
ES – Ecosystem Services
EU – European Union
FAO – Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations
GHG – Greenhouse Gas
GLASOD – Global Assessment of Human Induced Soil Degradation
GMO – Genetically Modified Organism
Gt – Gigatonne
GtCO ₂ e – Gigatonnes of CO ₂ Equivalent
GWP – Global Warming Potential
LUC – Land Use Change
Mgha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹ – Total Biomass (metric ton) per Hectare per Year
N – Nitrogen
NH ₃ – Ammonia
$NO_3^ Nitrate$
N ₂ – Dinitrogen/Unreactive Nitrogen
N ₂ O – Nitrous Oxide
P – Phosphorus
PGPF – Plant Growth Promoting Fungi
PGPR – Plant Growth Promoting Rhizobacteria
PS – Percolation Stability
SOC – Soil Organic Carbon
SOM – Soil Organic Matter
t ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹ – Tons per hectare per year
TN – Total Nitrogen

ſ

Section 1: Introduction

Since the 1960's, there have been great advancements in agriculture and food production, in what is known as the "Green Revolution", or the Third Agricultural Revolution. The introduction of new methods of intensive agricultural farming via petrochemical companies and improved agricultural practices has led to higher crop yields and an increase in animal husbandry, reducing famine worldwide, driving down food prices (Milani et al., 2022) and reducing poverty (John & Babu, 2021), in what will hereby be referred to as industrial agriculture. Today's agricultural output is ≈3-fold higher when compared to the beginning of the Green Revolution (Hurni et al., 2008), which has increased food production faster than population growth. Industrial agriculture is a modern and intensive method of farming and relies on the large-scale mechanization of farms in place of smaller farms. It removes itself from ecological principles, such as protecting biodiversity and relying on the interconnectedness of nature and instead focuses itself on high yields and profits with relatively little consideration for the ecological costs. In other words, industrial agriculture moves away from a circular system of equal inputs and outputs, to one with a large external input and skewed outputs. Such industrial practices include the application of chemical fertilizers and pesticides, monoculture, improved breeding techniques and the use of genetically modified organisms (GMOs) (Milani et al., 2022). Agricultural intensification is an important driver in the loss of biodiversity and ecosystem services worldwide (Pumariño et al., 2015), and contributes significantly to climate change and soil erosion (Figure 1). This now puts our future food systems at risk: what once bore us fruitful yields and improved food stability may now provide us with the opposite as it degrades the environment that it relies on.

Industrial agriculture has resulted in production systems that have contributed to reduced soil quality, reduced nutrient and water retention, and reduced biodiversity, thus hindering ecosystem services (ES). This results in an agricultural system that is less resilient to a changing climate, for example, by making cropping systems more vulnerable to the effects of climate change. Crops are dependent on the climate and industrial agriculture destabilizes global and local climate, promoting extreme weather patterns and thereby hindering the crops' ability to succeed whilst promoting wildfire formation. Climate change will also have a negative effect upon soil fertility and mineral acquisition for crops and may intensify food insecurity (St.Clair & Lynch, 2010). As glaciers recede because of climate change, this puts many agricultural areas at risk as they rely on glacial water for irrigation (Biemans et al., 2019). Industrial agriculture also contributes to climate change directly via GHG emissions, thereby potentially creating a positive feedback loop towards further negative effects. With biodiversity loss: ecosystems absorb less water, increasing the risks of flooding and droughts; there is a reduction in soil fertility, resulting in lower crop yields. Soil erosion reduces the level of fertile topsoil and reduces the ability of soil to store water, as well as increasing the likelihood of landslides, desertification, flooding, drought and dust storms.

While there are many agricultural practices that contribute to these issues, such as monoculture, tilling, and the application of synthetic fertilizers and pesticides, this paper will focus on the issues of deforestation for agriculture and will provide agroforestry (AF) as an alternative agroecological technique. This paper will compare three scenarios: forest, deforestation followed by intensive agriculture, and (semi) deforestation followed by AF. Various AF practices can be implemented into farming systems, agroecological or not, in order to reduce the environmental impacts of deforestation and industrial agriculture. While deforestation is often implemented to make space for agriculture, this paper will also discuss the extent to which conversion to AF can help restore ecosystem integrity and will discuss the best AF practices for improving specific aspects of ecosystem functioning.

AF is the intentional integration of trees and shrubs (and other plants) into farming systems, and has been associated with numerous benefits including: a farm's resilience and adaptability; improved microclimate; GHG mitigation; increased SOM; erosion control; better water use efficiency; reduced nutrient surplus; reduced chemical pollution; improved pest, disease and weed regulation; enhanced total farm productivity; greater biodiversity; more employment opportunity and other positive socio-cultural effects (Aguilera et al., 2020). Agroforestry systems can be used simply to improve the environmental status of the farm, for example by promoting biodiversity or by providing supporting and regulating services, or alternatively AF systems can be used for its provisioning services, for example by providing a food forest or multipurpose trees.

This essay is organized into two main sections: i) a problem analysis of the causes and effects of climate change, biodiversity loss and soil erosion in industrial agriculture, more specifically those related to deforestation and land conversion for industrial agriculture; and ii) agroforestry as an approach to help mitigate the issues detailed in the problem analysis. The problem analysis defined three major hub issues related to the negative impacts of industrial agriculture, namely climate change, biodiversity loss and soil erosion (Figure 1). Both the problem analysis and agroforestry-based mitigation strategies are thus organized around these three pillars.



Figure 1: Deforestation and LUC are used to make space for industrial agriculture; the impacts of industrial agriculture upon the environment contribute to climate change, biodiversity loss and soil erosion, and the issues are complex and interconnected. The issues summarized here then can be either directly or indirectly associated with deforestation and LUC (figure made via lucid.app)

Section 2: Problem Analysis

2.1 Industrial Agriculture and Climate Change

Industrial agriculture consumes vast amounts of fossil fuels, water and topsoil in an unsustainable manner, and has contributed to global warming and environmental degradation (Horrigan et al., 2002). The global food system contributes 21-37% of annual greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions (Lynch et al., 2021), driving anthropogenic climate change, with agriculture contributing 9.3 billion tons of CO₂ equivalent (CO₂eq) in 2018, and crop and livestock production making up 57% of this total and land use and land use change (LUC) contributing 43% (FAO, 2020). The main contributors to accelerated climate change in agriculture are: deforestation and land use change (LUC); livestock; transport of food and feed; certain agricultural practices such as tilling; production and use of synthetic fertilizers. Here, the focus will be the effects of deforestation and LUC upon climate change, in relation to industrial agriculture.

2.1.1 Deforestation and Land Use Change

Agricultural land currently occupies 38% of the terrestrial surface of the earth (S. Huang et al., 2023), which has been made possible via LUC, primarily deforestation (Figure 2). It is estimated that land use and LUC emissions were 4 Gt CO₂eq in 2018 (FAO, 2020), with deforestation making up 74% of this total (Figure 2). Another study predicted that deforestation is responsible for 1.5Gt carbon losses per year (Hu et al., 2021). In the Amazonia, 80% of the deforestation of the rainforest has been cleared to make way for cattle production, which consists primarily of cattle ranching and feed production (largely soy) (Skidmore et al., 2021). Around 20% of the beef and soya imported into the EU from Brazil has been linked to illegal deforestation of the Amazon Rainforest (Rajão et al., 2020), and much of the soy produced is also used as animal feed in the EU.



Figure 2: Contribution of activities to total agricultural land use and LUC emissions in 2018 (3.9 Gt CO2eq) (Data source: FAO 2020)

Deforestation and LUC impact atmospheric CO₂ in two main ways: i) reduced carbon storage; and ii) increased GHG emissions. Trees are the most efficient carbon capture technology that exists, and thus fewer trees lead to less CO₂ absorption from the air via photosynthesis. It is estimated that between 2007-2016, the terrestrial carbon sink removed 33.7% of total anthropogenic emissions from industry and land use change (LUC) (Keenan & Williams, 2018). Terrestrial ecosystems including forests, grasslands and wetlands currently store \approx 3,000GtC (\approx 550GtC stored in biomass (Bar-On et al., 2018) and \approx 2400GtC stored in the soil (Jobbagy & Jackson, 2000)), compared with the \approx 800GtC of atmospheric carbon (Dignac et al., 2017). Thus, the terrestrial carbon sink is essential in mitigating the effects of Anthropogenic-driven climate change. With the rise of deforestation, it is now predicted that parts of the Amazonia are now releasing more GHGs than they are storing (Gatti et al., 2021). There is also a reduced capacity of soil to store carbon from deforestation: global soil organic carbon (SOC) storage has been reduced by 31-52% as a result of forest conversion to agricultural land (X. Wang et al., 2017). Furthermore, as climate change accelerates, ecosystems will show a reduced capacity to sequester carbon in these warmer conditions (Mosquera-Losada et al., 2023).

As trees are cut down or burned, large stocks of stored carbon are released into the atmosphere as CO₂. The FAO has estimated that deforestation has accounted for 420 million hectares of lost forest between 1990-2000 ("Global Forest Resources Assessment 2020," 2020), and LUC (primarily deforestation) has been responsible for 18% of global GHG emissions (Chapagain & James, 2013). As deforestation and global warming increases, the capacity of ecosystems to sequester carbon is decreased (Landry et al., 2021), and the likelihood of forest fires is increased, further driving climate change as biomass is converted into CO₂. The CO₂ released from fires as a result of LUC for agriculture are not included in the total figures for GHGs released from agriculture (S. Huang et al., 2023).

2.2 Industrial Agriculture and Biodiversity

Industrial agriculture is today damaging biodiversity, via land use change (LUC) and the subsequent application of agrochemicals, habitat destruction or pollution. It is essential that we protect biodiversity as it enables a stable climate and provides many ecosystem services (ES) such as the pollination of plants and the provision of clean water. Today, biodiversity loss has been identified as a major threat in the disruption of the Holocene (Rockström et al., 2009), and it is predicted that we are headed for a sixth mass extinction event, the first to be caused by anthropogenic activity (Cafaro, 2015).

2.2.1 Deforestation and Land Use Change

LUC has been identified has been identified by the Intergovernmental Platform for Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services as the key driver for biodiversity loss (Brondizio et al., 2019). In the Brazilian Amazon, 780,000 km² of forest has been lost in the last 30 years, which has been responsible for half of Brazil's carbon emissions and the loss of over 2,000 native species (Skidmore et al., 2021). The conversion of natural habitat to agricultural land alters the species composition (Aratrakorn et al., 2006) and reduces the number of species, for example by the elimination of 48-60% of bird species in Malaysia following conversion of forest to oil palm plantation (Aratrakorn et al., 2006), and has reduced the diversity and availability of pollinator habitats (Centeno-Alvarado et al., 2023). The presence of birds and pollinators is essential in maintaining important ecological functions such as pest control and pollination (Yahya et al., 2022), and therefore food security (Klein et al., 2006). Globally, pollinators are declining, with many species becoming extinct due to lack of habitat and corridors (Ramos-Jiliberto et

al., 2020), which is exacerbated by other factors, such as pesticide use (Kenna et al., 2023) and monocropping (Aizen et al., 2019).

Higher levels of biodiversity have been associated with higher levels of ecosystem functioning (Delgado-Baquerizo et al., 2016; Tilman et al., 2014; H. Wang et al., 2022), including interspecific complementarity, greater use of limiting resources, decreased disease and improved nutrient cycle feedbacks that increase nutrient stores and supply rates in the long term (Tilman et al., 2014). This is essential in providing ES such as climate regulation, water filtration and air purification, and pollination and soil stability. For example, forests can maintain the hydrological cycle by absorbing and releasing water through their leaves and roots, as well as stabilizing the soil, providing clean water, preventing flooding and/or droughts and providing a stable climate. High levels of biodiversity can also mitigate the effects of pollution and eutrophication (H. Wang et al., 2022). The effects of a loss of biodiversity are: the exacerbation of local air conditions and air quality (Huang et al., 2023), increased likelihood of nitrogen addition, elevated CO₂, drought, flooding, fires and other drivers of environmental change (Tilman et al., 2014). Deforestation also decreases microbial biomass and diversity in soil, which provide essential ES such as soil functionality and the provision of fertile soil, and organic waste decomposition (J. Guo et al., 2022; Panklang et al., 2022).

2.2.2 Chemical Fertilizers

Deforestation has also been indirectly associated with eutrophication (Kong et al., 2022), as it allows polluted water and fertilizers to flow more easily into aquatic systems, and also provides fewer denitrifying bacteria (Kuusemets et al., 2001; Lowrance, 1992). Up to 70% of applied synthetic fertilizers are not used by crops (Henryson et al., 2020), thus excess nitrogen (N) from fertilizers are released to the environment in different forms: as its unreactive state (N_2) , emitted to the air as a GHG in the form of nitrous oxide (N₂O), or released into the soil or water systems as nitrate (NO₃⁻) or ammonia (NH₃) (Henryson et al., 2020), thereby disrupting the nitrogen cycle. 55% of the anthropogenic nitrogen fixation can be attributed to fertilizer production, 27% to biological nitrogen fixation in agriculture, and 18% from combustion processes (Fowler et al., 2015). Nitrogen (primarily in the form NO_3), leaching from agricultural fields is the leading cause of anthropogenic N input into marine environments (Steffen et al., 2015), and it is estimated that \approx 24% of anthropogenic N released in coastal watersheds reaches coastal ecosystems (Malone & Newton, 2020). Phosphates from fertilizers are also released into soil and water systems, and together with nitrates are the leading causes of eutrophication (Malone & Newton, 2020). It is predicted that 31% of the global freshwater has undesirable levels of periphyton growth (McDowell et al., 2020); 76% of this growth has been mapped to agricultural land as a result of P-enrichment (McDowell et al., 2020). Periphyton is associated with freshwater eutrophication and is the collection of material growing in freshwater that can form a complex community of algae, bacteria, fungi and invertebrates. Eutrophication causes blooms of toxic algae and decreases aquatic (both coastal and freshwater) biodiversity and can cost billions of dollars annually to remediate (McDowell et al., 2020). While nitrogen deposition primarily affects aquatic ecosystems, it also causes changes in forests, impacting tree productivity, tree nutrition, sensitivity of trees to biotic and abiotic stresses, understory vegetation composition and ectomycorrhizal fungal communities (Schmitz et al., 2019). Nitrogen saturation in these forested areas then sets off a series of reactions that result in a loss of plant species diversity, soil acidification and growth reduction (Schmitz et al., 2019).

2.3 Industrial Agriculture and Soil Erosion

Soil is the most important factor in food production and 95-97% of agricultural output is based on cultivation and grazing lands (Hurni et al., 1996; Pimentel et al., 1987). However, today's intensive and industrial agricultural practices are degrading the soil at an unprecedented rate, putting future food security at risk. It is estimated that the impact of soil erosion results in the losses of between 36 Gt (Borrelli et al., 2017) and 75 Gt (FAO, 2016) of soil annually, leading to global losses of \$400 billion in agricultural output per year (FAO, 2016). Global agricultural activities contribute 3.2Gt of soil erosion per year, with a soil erosion rate of 0.22Mg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ (Hu et al., 2021). This is equivalent to the loss of approximately 12 million hectares land per year (FAO, n.d.). Although this represents only 1% of cultivated land, if we continue with current agricultural practices with no countermeasures, it is likely that soil will be totally depleted in the next 200 years (Hurni et al., 2008).



Figure 3: Global Assessment of Human-Induced Soil Degradation (GLASOD), shows the causes and extent of soil erosion between 1987-1990. Figure taken from (Favis-Mortlock, 2017), which was adapted from (Oldeman et al., 1990)

The *Global Assessment of Human Induced Soil Degradation* (GLASOD) (Figure 3) was a major milestone in estimating the problem of soil erosion at a global level, and was conducted between 1987-1990 (Oldeman et al., 1990). Although this research is outdated, it remains relevant as land and soil degradation continues. This research concluded that 15.1% of the terrestrial surface, or one-third of agricultural land, is affected by soil degradation (Oldeman et al., 1990). The major Anthropogenic

activities causing soil degradation are: deforestation (30%), overgrazing (35%) and agricultural overuse (28%) (Oldeman et al., 1990). Other sources state that up to 90% of agricultural land suffers from erosion, from slight to moderate erosion (10%), to moderate to severe erosion (80%) (Pimentel et al., 1995); whereas Kaiser (2004) states that "soil loss is not likely to be a major constraint to food security". Such opposing research outcomes may be because authors use different sources, measurements and modelling to draw their conclusions, and probably the truth lies somewhere in the middle, as is demonstrated in the GLASOD study.

Long term erosion rates of soil are greater in regions of crop land than from natural lands and erode at a rate of 6 Mgha⁻¹yr⁻¹ and 2 Mgha⁻¹yr⁻¹, respectively, in the United States (Nearing et al., 2017). Where land has been more recently brought into production, for example in northeastern China, rates of soil erosion were 15 Mgha⁻¹yr⁻¹ (Nearing et al., 2017). The natural factors that relate to soil degradation are outside of the scope of this review, however the anthropogenic factors will be covered below.

2.3.1 The Effects of Soil Erosion

In agricultural production, soil erosion is most associated with the removal of topsoil, which is an essential factor in the production of fertile crops, and results in a reduced soil truncation (Poesen et al., 2001). Topsoil removal "implies nutrient loss, reduction of rooting depth, water and nutrient storage capability ... [and thus] reduced plant production" (Hurni et al., 2008); in other words, soil erosion causes a reduction in soil fertility in cultivated areas. Soil erosion promotes the formation of landslides (F. Huang et al., 2020), dust storms (which further accelerate soil erosion) (Duniway et al., 2019; X. Wang et al., 2006), desertification (D'Odorico et al., 2013) and flooding (Robinson & Blackman, 1990), and contributes to eutrophication: phosphorus (Ekholm & Lehtoranta, 2012) and nitrogen (Nearing et al., 2017), as well as pesticides are transported via eroded soils and rainfall to water bodies. Erosion also causes pollution, in the form of sediment, which is, by mass, the greatest pollutant we have, causing "tremendous societal cost in terms of stream degradation, disturbance to wildlife habitat, floodings and direct costs for dredging, levees and reservoir storage losses" (Nearing et al., 2017).

Whilst soil erosion is damaging to the environment, it also results in the losses of \$400 billion dollars annually to compensate (Pimentel et al., 1995), primarily due to nutrient losses, but also water loss and loss of soil depth.

2.3.2 Deforestation, LUC and Soil Erosion

Deforestation contributes to soil erosion by reducing plant cover and increasing the soils susceptibility to water and wind erosion. Trees and other foliage protect the soil: i) by adding SOC to the soil (for example by degradation of dead organic matter, or via rhizodeposition (Thirkell et al., 2020); ii) roots provide stability to the soil and provide surface erosion protection (Giadrossich et al., 2019); iii) forests maintain the hydrological cycle, preventing flooding and droughts and thus protecting the soil from wind, water and gully erosion; and iv) by preventing splash erosion via the interception of rainwater (L. Wang et al., 2023). Flooding as a result of deforestation have occurred since at least 602BCE, where records first began, which has resulted in the deaths of millions of people (Yan et al., 2022) as well as being a significant contributor to soil erosion.

There have been many studies documenting the effects of deforestation upon soil erosion (Chatterjee et al., 2018). For example, in Bera Lake, Malaysia, there has been severe LUC, where 340km² out of

600km² of forest has been converted into oil palm and rubber plantations, or cleared for monoculture (Gharibreza et al., 2013). This has resulted in soil erosion of 915 t ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, 117 t ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, 75 t ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ in cleared, developing and developed land respectively, which corresponds to soil loss in these regions of 74%, 63% and 55% (Gharibreza et al., 2013). In naturally forested areas in this region, soil erosion is 7 t ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, and soil loss is 5% (Gharibreza et al., 2013). Carbon stocks have been reduced in the soil by 75%, 59% and 28% in cleared, developing and developed land when compared to natural forest, respectively (Gharibreza et al., 2013). Carbon stocks, particularly SOC stocks, are an important indicator of soil quality and health and thus soil erosion.

Another study reports SOC losses of 29% following forest conversion to vineyard in Western Iran (Khodadadi et al., 2023), mostly due to erosion but also emissions. Soil percolation stability has been reduced by \approx 50% in this region (Khodadadi et al., 2023). Percolation stability (PS) is a method that assesses aggregate stability; a higher PS and thus a higher aggregate stability is an important factor in resistance to soil erosion. Mbagwu & Auerswald (1999) concluded that land use has more influence on the PS than the type of soil; forest soils, bush fallows, mulched, minimally tilled plots and pasture lands have high PS; conventionally tilled plots, bare fallows and continuously cultivated plots have a low PS. Other studies have reported soil carbon losses of up to 80% (de Blécourt et al., 2019), 30%-60% (Villarino et al., 2017), and \approx 80% (Eleftheriadis et al., 2018) following forest conversion to agricultural land.

In the Amazonia of French Guiana, deforestation reduced SOC in soil by 18.6% after five years of conversion to annual crop (Fujisaki et al., 2017), which is associated with soil erosion. This is less of a decrease when compared to other regions of deforestation around the world (de Blécourt et al., 2019; Eleftheriadis et al., 2018; Gharibreza et al., 2013; Khodadadi et al., 2023; Villarino et al., 2017), and can be attributed to the fact that large woody debris as a result of deforestation contributes to the SOC. Soil erosion rates reported for different studies may also vary depending on the length of the study, the exact nature of the land use change, and the length of time since land use transitions.

2.4 Problem Analysis Conclusion

This problem analysis has delved into some of the environmental issues associated with deforestation and subsequent application of industrial agriculture, and has described the agricultural causes and effects of climate change, biodiversity loss and soil erosion at a global scale, which are summarized in Figure 1. If we continue with our current methods of agriculture, topsoil will continue to be eroded, GHGs will continue to be emitted into the atmosphere at an unsustainable rate, and we will continue to accelerate towards a sixth mass extinction event, threating global food security and human health. Our current agricultural systems are particularly vulnerable to the effects of climate change as their low biodiversity and eroded soils provide little resilience against the extreme weather patterns that are on the rise as climate change continues.

It should be notes that this paper has not provided a full problem analysis of industrial agriculture. Additional aspects that may be considered include: i) the environmental effects of certain management practices, for example tilling and monoculture, which reduce biodiversity and soil quality and contribute to GHG emissions; and ii) many societal problems. For instance, industrial agriculture promotes the development of human diseases via zoonosis (Hayek, 2022; Morse et al., 2012), and overuse of antibiotics in livestock farming is promoting the evolution of antibiotic resistant microorganisms. Industrial agriculture has dominated landscapes, forcing many small-scale farmers

out of business and driving urbanization (Capra & Luisi, 2012), and has resulted in the ownership of 85% of the global food industry by the top ten agrochemical companies (Simms, 1999). These issues are large and complex and fall outside of the scope of this essay; this essay instead aims to bring a larger focus to the important aspects of agroforestry and deforestation.

The following section will now delve into agroforestry as a framework for addressing some of the problems outlined above, and how one can improve upon agricultural practices to fit more in line with ecological principles. Here, we will show GHG emissions can be slowed via the carbon sequestration ability of terrestrial ecosystems, that biodiversity can be improved to promote more climate resilient food systems, and how AF can be used to restore soil fertility and health.

Section 3: Agroforestry as a Mitigation against Climate Change, Biodiversity Loss and Soil Erosion

Agroforestry (AF) is the intentional incorporation of trees and shrubs into farming systems, either in cropland or pasture. In a literature review of agroecology, Aguilera et al. (2020), found that AF has largely positive effects upon: a farms resistance and adaptability; microclimates; GHG mitigation; SOM; erosion control; water use; reduced nutrient surplus; reduced chemical pollution; pest, disease and weed regulation; total farm productivity; biodiversity; employment and other positive socio-cultural effects (Figure 4), when compared to deforestation followed by intensive agriculture. Types of agroforestry systems can be seen in Table 1. It is worth noting, that the scenario where forest is allowed to exist, provides these benefits better than AF. However, since agriculture is necessary, and deforestation has already impacted vast regions of the world, AF can be thought of as an applicable compromise between natural forest and providing sufficient food, to provide, to a lesser extent, the benefits of forests at an environmental level. The following section will outline the potential benefits of AF systems when compared to industrial agriculture, unless otherwise stated.



Figure 4: Environmental benefits of AF systems, when compared to industrial agriculture.

Agroforestry Practice	Description	Reference(s)
Silvopasture	The integration of trees, forage and grazing livestock on the same piece of land. Livestock provide nutrients via manure, and trees provide shade for the livestock.	(Baker et al., 2023; Smith et al., 2022)
Silvoarable systems	The cultivation of arable crops and trees is combined, for example by planting trees alongside rows of crops.	(Kletty et al., 2023; Reisner et al., 2007)
Forest farming	The cultivation of shade-tolerant crops under a forest canopy. It is especially useful in the growing of medicinal herbs, ornamental plant, and certain foods, such as mushrooms.	(Baker & Saha, 2018; Bruhn & Mihail, 2009)
Riparian buffer strips	The incorporation of trees and vegetation adjacent to streams and rivers, bordering agricultural fields or pasture. They can be used to mitigate the effects of N leaching and eutrophication, and also prevent flooding and drought via water retention.	(Cole et al., 2020; Dlamini et al., 2022)
Improved fallow	The deliberate planting of fast-growing plants, such as legumes, for replenishment of soil fertility, for instance via accumulation of N in soil. It differs from forest farming, as fallow implies that the land is resting from cultivation.	(Kaonga & Coleman, 2008; Sanchez, 1999)
Multipurpose trees	Trees that are cultivated for more than one purpose/use. For example, fruit and other trees can be planted together to provide fruit, fuelwood, fodder and timber, among other services.	(Herrero-Jáuregui et al., 2013; Lelamo, 2021; Nair et al., 2021)
Food forests	The diverse planting of edible plants that aim to mimic natural forests and its ecosystem(s). Their aims are to be climate resilient, biologically sustainable and efficient.	(Albrecht & Wiek, 2021; Lehmann et al., 2019; Riolo, 2019)
Peri-urban food forest	A food forest that is placed in the transitional zone between urban and rural areas.	(Lehmann et al., 2019)

Table 1: A summary of	some of the different	agroforestry pr	actices
-----------------------	-----------------------	-----------------	---------

3.1 Agroforestry and Climate Change Mitigation

AF is a useful tool in GHG mitigation via its potential in carbon sequestration: both aboveground by converting CO_2 into biomass, and belowground via litter or its root system and relationships with microorganisms (Thirkell et al., 2020).

57% of agricultural land has less than 10% tree cover, and yet trees contribute 75% of the carbon stored in agriculture (Zomer et al., 2016). From 2000 to 2010, tree cover increased by 3.7%, which resulted in an increase in carbon storage in agriculture by 4.7% (Zomer et al., 2016), demonstrating the potential of agroforestry in carbon sequestration and GHG mitigation. Trees remove carbon from the atmosphere via the action of photosynthesis, which is then used to add biomass, both aboveground and belowground, in their roots. Silvopasture, the integration of livestock with trees, is the agroforestry practise that has the highest potential for CO_2 mitigation in the Himalayas (Sharma et al., 2023). This is supported by Mosquera-Losada et al., (2016), who also identified silvoarable and silvopasture to be the most effective AF practices for carbon sequestration in the EU. Forest has higher potential in GHG mitigation than agroforestry (Chatterjee et al., 2018), however this is not a feasible option, since agricultural land is necessary. Agroforestry may then be thought of as a compromise between the most effective GHG mitigation tool (forest) and providing sufficient food.

Agroforestry systems can also provide resilience against climate change in agriculture, via maintenance of carbon, nutrient and hydrological cycles, and providing cooling effects via the provision of shade (Ellison et al., 2017) or transpiration (J. Huang et al., 2022) This can help buffer crops during times of climate extremes, by increasing the adaptive capacity of a farm (Quandt et al., 2023) and moderating microclimates (Mosquera-Losada et al., 2023). It has been demonstrated that in silvoarable systems, such as the implementation of hedgerows, that air temperatures that are lower and steadier than that of surrounding areas, even in the field at underground and soil surface levels (Sánchez et al., 2010), and that adding tree canopy to pastureland can improve pasture yield of up to 19% (Moreno, 2008). Agroforestry can be used as both a drought and a flood mitigation strategy, by improving the soil hydraulic properties such as infiltration capacity (Ilstedt et al., 2007), and preferential flow, which positively influences groundwater recharge (Bargués Tobella et al., 2014).

Thus, agroforestry is a promising technique that can be implemented in agricultural systems, that can mitigate the effects of climate change via CO₂ sequestration, as well as providing a more resilient agricultural system against climate change, particularly in regions of water scarcity and hot temperatures, and regions that will be most affected by climate change.

3.2 Agroforestry and Biodiversity

Agroforestry enhances both functional and overall biodiversity within landscapes (Santos et al., 2022), and impacts biodiversity both directly by providing habitat and corridors for species, and indirectly by promoting SOC formation and preventing eutrophication.

Many studies have demonstrated a higher abundance and richness of species in agroforestry systems (Barrios et al., 2018; Bohan et al., 2022; Centeno-Alvarado et al., 2023; Jarrett et al., 2021; Klein et al., 2003; Santos et al., 2022; Weiner et al., 2014). AF promotes the stability and quality of ES (Bohan et al., 2013), improves the quality and connectivity of the agricultural matrix, and enhances plant-animal interactions (Klein et al., 2003). Especially worth noting, is the positive impact on earthworm (Barrios et al., 2018) and pollinator populations (Centeno-Alvarado et al., 2023). Earthworms promote litter decomposition and improve the nutrient availability of the soil, improve soil drainage and maintain a stable soil structure, and can help promote higher yields (Singh, 2018). For instance, in coffee agriculture, a loss of native earthworms as a result of the absence of trees, resulted in 76% lower soil microporosity (Barrios, 2007). Earthworms also show promise in vermiremediation, and they can act as biofilters and biotransformers of toxic pollutants such as microplastics and heavy metals in soil (Gudeta et al., 2023).

Agroforestry promotes and maintains pollination services by diversifying agricultural landscapes (Centeno-Alvarado et al., 2023). As well as providing habitat, agroforestry provides additional sources of food for pollinators, for example by supporting the growth of flowers (Weiner et al., 2014). By increasing the plant diversity on farms, this can increase the taxonomic range and functional diversity of pollinators and plants (Weiner et al., 2014). Levels of pollination ES are higher in agroforestry systems that in conventional agricultural systems (Centeno-Alvarado et al., 2023), which can improve crop quality and yields (Maccagnani et al., 2020), and enhance fruit nutritional composition (Centeno-

Alvarado et al., 2023). In agricultural systems that have already implemented agroforestry, pollination services can be maximized by increasing shade-tree cover, decreasing the distance between agroforestry fragments, and increasing local floral resources (Centeno-Alvarado et al., 2023).

Agroforestry practices may be beneficial in pest, disease and weed management (Pumariño et al., 2015), for example by providing habitat for natural enemies of pests (Chaplin-Kramer et al., 2011). For example, AF and natural forest systems provide habitat for bats that feed on both forest and crop pests (Ancillotto et al., 2022). Landscape complexity has a strong positive response to natural enemies (Chaplin-Kramer et al., 2011), which control the populations of animal pests and weeds, for example by eating seeds and preying on the pests (Boinot et al., 2020). Additionally, shade from trees may provide insurance against pest outbreaks in the field (Tscharntke et al., 2011). However, this is context dependent, and one must also consider that agroforestry may also provide habitat to the natural pests themselves, particularly in conventional agriculture, where the use of pesticides reduces natural predator populations (Boinot et al., 2020). Agroforestry has also been associated with a reduction in plant disease (Beule et al., 2019; Cerda et al., 2020; Durand-Bessart et al., 2020), or the promotion of disease suppressive soils via the promotion of beneficial microbes (Moreira et al., 2019). Thus, agroforestry can be a useful tool in weed, disease and pest suppression.

While agroforestry promotes biodiversity aboveground, it also plays a role in the maintenance of microbial diversity and abundance, which has potential in the restoration and improvement of soil functionality. Agroforestry increases SOC in the soil by the presence of its deep roots (Chatterjee et al., 2018), and the presence of diverse plants positively affects soil biodiversity (Wooliver et al., 2022). Furthermore, the action of rhizodeposition promotes SOC formation and can cause a 10-100-fold increase in the microbial density in the soil (Bakker et al., 2013). This promotes the proliferation of beneficial microorganisms, such as plant-growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) and plant-growth promoting fungi (PGPF) (Pieterse et al., 2014). Beneficial bacteria can provide: enhanced mineral uptake by the plant, nitrogen fixation, growth promotion and protection from pathogens (Pieterse et al., 2014). The implementation of silvopasture further promotes SOC formation and supports soil diversity via the addition of manure to the soil (Baker et al., 2023). Furthermore, AF promotes the formation of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) (Qiao et al., 2022). AMF may also provide enhanced adaptability to plants under stressful conditions, such as heat (Mathur et al., 2021), salinity (Dastogeer et al., 2020), drought (Mathur et al., 2019), heavy metals (Dhalaria et al., 2020) and other biotic and abiotic factors. It may achieve this via the up-regulation of tolerance mechanisms and by preventing the down-regulation of key metabolic pathways (Begum et al., 2019), as well as by improving plant health status via the acquisition of nutrients.

The incorporation of agroforestry in agriculture also shows great potential in mitigating pollution, via the prevention of nitrogen and phosphate leaching (Aguilera et al., 2020; Dlamini et al., 2022; Kuusemets et al., 2001). For example, silvopasture reduces nutrient loss from the soil surface when compared to open pasture (Rigueiro-Rodríguez et al., 2009). In heavily polluted areas, riparian buffer strips can reduce nitrogen and phosphorus fluxes by up to 90% (Zhao et al., 2009) and 84% (Kuusemets et al., 2001), respectively. Riparian buffer strips reduce N fluxes by a denitrification process, whereby denitrifying bacteria convert nitrate into N₂O and N₂; this is most effective in the top 10cm of soil (Lowrance, 1992). Riparian buffer strips stabilize the soil, which may also slow down the addition of nitrates into aquatic system by acting as a 'safety net' (Allen et al., 2004), and provide enough time for denitrifying microbes to reduce nitrates. Trees may also utilize the nitrates to support their own growth (Allen et al., 2004). Thus, riparian buffer strips play an essential role in preventing eutrophication and

preventing aquatic biodiversity losses. However, the denitrifying process releases N_2O ; there have been increased N_2O fluxes in riparian system of areas of high N pollution, compared to conventional agriculture (Dlamini et al., 2022). Based on the potential of agroforestry in carbon sequestration, enhancing biodiversity and soil quality, and reducing nitrogen leaching, an increase in N_2O emissions may be a worthwhile tradeoff.

A limitation of agroforestry is that crop yields have been shown in some cases to decrease as a result of resource competition, and yields are lowest when in close proximity to the forest (Pardon et al., 2018; Reynolds et al., 2007; Swieter et al., 2019; Wanvestraut et al., 2004). However, as silvoarable systems establish themselves, there is evidence to suggest that yields are comparable to monoculture (Swieter et al., 2019), and agroforestry does not negatively influence quality of the crop (Beule et al., 2019).

3.3 Agroforestry and Soil Restoration

Agroforestry has long been recognized in its ability to mitigate land degradation and assist in its recovery (Marques et al., 2022). Agroforestry promotes carbon sequestration in soil to improve soil quality, which has already been discussed (see section 3.1). Furthermore, the increased presence of worms and saprotrophs in woody areas also improves soil quality, for example by improving aeration and decomposing organic matter into nutrients (Barrios et al., 2018). The capacity of deep roots in absorbing water reduces both water and wind erosion and stabilizes the soil, thereby improving soil quality. Agroforestry also promotes soil enzyme functioning (Ghosh et al., 2021).

Via symbiotic relationships with microorganisms, plants may also deposit carbon in the soil, in a process known as rhizodeposition, whereby microorganisms in the rhizosphere may receive 20% (Thirkell et al., 2020) to 40% (Bais et al., 2006) of the plants photosynthetically derived carbon. This promotes a higher C:N ratio and improves SOC stocks in the soil, which prevents soil erosion, improves carbon sequestration thus mitigating GHGs (see section 3.1) and promotes microbial diversity (see section 3.2). The presence of deep roots further promotes SOC deposition, which can be up to 27% higher in agroforestry systems than in other agricultural systems (Chatterjee et al., 2018). This aligns with the goals of the 4 per 1000 initiative, that aims to enhance carbon uptake and SOC stocks in soil as a GHG mitigation strategy and to improve soil health (4 per 1000 initiative, 2022).

3.4 Implementation of Agroforestry

Agroforestry has been identified as an economically viable practice in agricultural systems, which is also recognized by the EU (Albrecht & Wiek, 2021). For example, field experiments in three European countries demonstrated that AF can increase overall yields by up to 40%, relative to monoculture and arable systems (Graves et al., 2007). Other studies have reported increased yields as a result of agroforestry (Carsan et al., 2014; Cerda et al., 2020). However, agroforestry may provide lower yields than fertilized fields (Ajayi et al., 2010) (see section 3.3); thus there are mixed research outcomes on whether AF improves or decreases yields. It is recommended that one takes into account the potential outcome, and here the community sharing of knowledge may be a beneficial tool to determine best practices. Overall, agroforestry has been identified as an economically viable option, that results in improved yield and yield stability, a reduction in agrochemicals, and higher profitability, in a meta-analysis of farming systems (Rosa-Schleich et al., 2019). AF may also provide increased profits

indirectly. Since AF contributes to soil fertility and a reduction in pest species, synthetic fertilizer and pesticide usage can be reduced, which benefits both the environment and the socio-economic status of the farm.

One may consider developing an AF system as a provisioning service, for example the implementation of food forests. Food forests are the diverse planting of edible plants that aim to mimic natural forests and ecosystems, and in order to maximize profit should incorporate 3-7 types of provisioning plants, as can be seen in Figure 5 (Albrecht & Wiek, 2021). By incorporating different types of plants, each plant fills its own ecological niche, to provide enhanced environmental effects upon biodiversity and soil quality. Higher biodiversity has also been linked to improved carbon sequestration and enhanced productivity (Chen et al., 2018), and food forests can provide farms with additional profits. In order to ensure food forests are economically viable, one must first design a business plan, and incorporate as many of the different plant types as possible, that will support the local environment (Albrecht & Wiek, 2021).



Figure 5: The different components required for a functional food forest: 1) Canopy, for example large fruit and nut trees; 2) low tree layers, for example dwarf fruit trees; 3) Shrub layer, for example currants and berries; 4) Herbaceous layer, for example beets and herbs; 5) Root vegetables, for example carrots and potatoes, to support the rhizosphere; 6) Soil surface layer as ground cover, for example strawberries; 7) Vertical layer, for example climbers and vines. In an ideal system, all components would be intermixed with one another, in a 'stacking' manner, and not separated as is depicted in the figure. Adapted from (Burnett, 2008). Image designed in BioRender.

Section 4: Discussion and Conclusions

Agroforestry can be incorporated into agricultural systems to minimize their negative environmental effects, either directly or indirectly. AF systems provide direct environmental benefits by improving carbon sequestration, increasing biodiversity and improving soil quality, when compared to industrial agriculture that does not incorporate AF. AF also provides indirect benefits, for example by reducing the quantity of pesticides and synthetic fertilizers required. AF provides benefits for: a farm's resilience and adaptability; microclimates; GHG mitigation; SOM; erosion control; water use; reduced nutrient surplus; reduced chemical pollution; pest, disease and weed regulation; total farm productivity; biodiversity; and employment (Aguilera et al., 2020). The implementation of agroforestry may also include economic benefits: directly via increased yields, and indirectly by reduced inputs, such as labor, fertilizers and pesticides.

AF should not be used as a replacement for natural forests, nor as a justification for further deforestation: whilst AF systems can be implemented to mitigate the effects of industrial agriculture upon climate change, biodiversity loss, and soil erosion, one must consider that AF does not achieve this as well as natural forests. For example, AF systems may not provide as much benefit to biodiversity as natural forests, since age of forest is directly correlated to an increase in functional diversity (Bongers et al., 2021). In addition, natural and older forests have also been associated with increased levels of SOC and total nitrogen (TN) (Y. Guo et al., 2021), indicating higher soil quality, as well as showing reduced levels of soil erosion (Sun et al., 2023), when compared to younger forests. Older trees may also sequester carbon more effectively than younger trees (Köhl et al., 2017). Thus, one should not use the implementation of an AF system in industrial agriculture as a justification for further deforestation, since natural forests promote higher levels of biodiversity, ecosystem functioning and soil quality, and have a higher potential in carbon sequestration. However, since high levels of deforestation have already occurred to make space for agriculture, it is recommended that AF systems can be implemented in these areas to help restore and promote biodiversity, soil quality and GHG mitigation.

While in some cases, agroforestry may reduce yields, overall AF improves yields. Since 44% of crops are wasted annually (Alexander et al., 2017), a small reduction in yields may be a viable option. In this case then, one should instead focus on the socio-economic factors that surround food justice and inequality and here, society must ensure a fairer and more equitable spreading of food resources, which is outside of the scope of this review. Furthermore, one must also consider the economic costs that AF may mitigate. For example, AF may reduce eutrophication and soil erosion, which normally costs billions of dollars annually to remediate (FAO, 2016; McDowell et al., 2020; Pimentel et al., 1995).

While there may be some long term economic benefits associated with AF, economic and social barriers have been identified by Abdul-Salam et al. (2022) as: i) high upfront costs of conversion; ii) uncertainty of returns from forestry relative to agriculture; iii) long production cycle and perceived irreversibility of land management; and, iv) in some cases, reduced yields when compared to monoculture. Furthermore, a lack of awareness of AF, both at a policy level and a farm level, may also hinder the adoption of AF in agriculture (Mosquera-Losada et al., 2023). AF is also not well designed for large-scale implementation and automation, which may be achieved with technological advances, for example those acknowledged by the Scaling Up Initiative (FAO, 2018). To further promote AF in agriculture, the Scaling Up Initiative identified three areas of work and actions (FAO, 2018):

- 1. Knowledge and innovation:
 - a. Strengthening the role of family farmers to safeguard, utilize and access natural resources.
 - b. Foster experience and knowledge sharing, innovations and collaborations.
- 2. Policy processes:
 - a. Promoting markets for products based on agroecological principles, for health, sustainability and nutrition.
 - b. Review policy, legal and financial frameworks to promote AF transitions.
- 3. Building connections:
 - a. Take agroforestry to scale through integrated and participatory processes.

While agroforestry shows promise for the future of farming, it cannot be the whole solution. One must also consider other agroecological practices, such as: the reduction of tilling; a recircularization of farms to combine cropland and animal husbandry; organic farming, etc. While these techniques may provide significant steps towards a sustainable future in agriculture, this is also not the whole picture. One must also return to local methods of production, and a reduction in animal husbandry is also recommended. Here, policy change is crucial, and sufficient support must be provided to farmers, both at a financial and an educational level, for example by educating farmers of the benefits of AF, and how it may be implemented. Furthermore, there have been a lack of studies comparing different AF practices, and the correct AF practice must be determined at a local scale. Farmers must decide based on their own local knowledge the most appropriate practice to adopt for their farm. This local knowledge may be combined, for example, with a modelling approach and/or capital budgeting analyses (Abdul-Salam et al., 2022). Modelling approaches can be used to determine the optimal placement of trees, to find the best compromise between yield and environmental benefits, as well as comparing financial and economic benefits (Mosquera-Losada et al., 2023).

To conclude, agroforestry is shown to be a promising practice that can be incorporated into farming systems, that shows both environmental and economic benefits, and that can be used to help mitigate the effects of climate change, biodiversity loss, and soil erosion, whilst also providing sufficient food and providing farms with improved climate resilience. To execute this, political and governmental support is required, both at regional and global scales, and education and policy change are required. The action and support of NGOs, such as the 4 per 1000 initiative, may also speed up implementation. When implemented correctly, with proper planning, guidance and financial support, agroforestry is a viable practice that can be integrated into farms to reduce their environmental impact, whilst also providing social benefits, such as employment and improved living conditions. Agroforestry can be used in combination with other agroecological practices, to further promote environmental benefits, and help guide us into a new era of economically viable food production.

References

- 4 per 1000 initiative. (2022). Soils for food security and Climate Strategic Plan 2nd version . https://4p1000.org/the-strategic-plan/?lang=en
- Abdul-Salam, Y., Ovando, P., & Roberts, D. (2022). Understanding the economic barriers to the adoption of agroforestry: A Real Options analysis. *Journal of Environmental Management*, *302*, 113955. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JENVMAN.2021.113955
- Aguilera, E., Díaz-Gaona, C., García-Laureano, R., Reyes-Palomo, C., Guzmán, G. I., Ortolani, L., Sánchez-Rodríguez, M., & Rodríguez-Estévez, V. (2020). Agroecology for adaptation to climate change and resource depletion in the Mediterranean region. A review. *Agricultural Systems*, 181, 102809. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AGSY.2020.102809
- Aizen, M. A., Aguiar, S., Biesmeijer, J. C., Garibaldi, L. A., Inouye, D. W., Jung, C., Martins, D. J., Medel, R., Morales, C. L., Ngo, H., Pauw, A., Paxton, R. J., Sáez, A., & Seymour, C. L. (2019). Global agricultural productivity is threatened by increasing pollinator dependence without a parallel increase in crop diversification. *Global Change Biology*, 25(10), 3516–3527. https://doi.org/10.1111/GCB.14736
- Ajayi, O. C., Akinnifesi, F. K., Sileshi, G., & Kanjipite, W. (2010). Labour inputs and financial profitability of conventional and agroforestry-based soil fertility management practices in Zambia. *Http://Dx.Doi.Org/10.1080/03031853.2009.9523827, 48*(3), 276–292. https://doi.org/10.1080/03031853.2009.9523827
- Albrecht, S., & Wiek, A. (2021). Food forests: Their services and sustainability. *Journal of Agriculture, Food Systems, and Community Development, 10*(3), 91–105. https://doi.org/10.5304/jafscd.2021.103.014
- Alexander, P., Brown, C., Arneth, A., Finnigan, J., Moran, D., & Rounsevell, M. D. A. (2017). Losses, inefficiencies and waste in the global food system. *Agricultural Systems*, *153*, 190–200. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AGSY.2017.01.014
- Allen, S. C., Jose, S., Nair, P. K. R., Brecke, B. J., Nkedi-Kizza, P., & Ramsey, C. L. (2004). Safety-net role of tree roots: evidence from a pecan (Carya illinoensis K. Koch)–cotton (Gossypium hirsutum L.) alley cropping system in the southern United States. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 192(2–3), 395–407. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FORECO.2004.02.009
- Ancillotto, L., Rummo, R., Agostinetto, G., Tommasi, N., Garonna, A. P., de Benedetta, F., Bernardo, U., Galimberti, A., & Russo, D. (2022). Bats as suppressors of agroforestry pests in beech forests.
 Forest Ecology and Management, *522*, 120467. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FORECO.2022.120467
- Aratrakorn, S., Thunhikorn, S., & Donald, P. F. (2006). Changes in bird communities following conversion of lowland forest to oil palm and rubber plantations in southern Thailand. *Bird Conservation International*, *16*(1), 71–82. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0959270906000062
- Bais, H. P., Weir, T. L., Perry, L. G., Gilroy, S., & Vivanco, J. M. (2006). The role of root exudates in rhizosphere interactions with plants and other organisms. *Annual Review of Plant Biology*, 57(June), 233–266. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.arplant.57.032905.105159
- Baker, E., Bezner Kerr, R., Deryng, D., Farrell, A., Gurney-Smith, H., & Thornton, P. (2023). Mixed farming systems: potentials and barriers for climate change adaptation in food systems. *Current*

Opinion in Environmental Sustainability, 62, 101270. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.COSUST.2023.101270

- Baker, E., & Saha, S. (2018). Forest farming in Georgia, United States: Three potential crops. *Annals of Agrarian Science*, *16*(3), 304–308. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AASCI.2018.04.003
- Bakker, P. A. H. M., Berendsen, R. L., Doornbos, R. F., Wintermans, P. C. A., & Pieterse, C. M. J. (2013). The rhizosphere revisited: Root microbiomics. In *Frontiers in Plant Science* (Vol. 4, Issue MAY). Frontiers Research Foundation. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2013.00165
- Bargués Tobella, A., Reese, H., Almaw, A., Bayala, J., Malmer, A., Laudon, H., & Ilstedt, U. (2014). The effect of trees on preferential flow and soil infiltrability in an agroforestry parkland in semiarid Burkina Faso. Water Resources Research, 50(4), 3342–3354. https://doi.org/10.1002/2013WR015197
- Bar-On, Y. M., Phillips, R., & Milo, R. (2018). The biomass distribution on Earth. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 115(25), 6506–6511. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1711842115/SUPPL_FILE/1711842115.SAPP.PDF
- Barrios, E. (2007). Soil biota, ecosystem services and land productivity. *Ecological Economics*, *64*(2), 269–285. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ECOLECON.2007.03.004
- Barrios, E., Valencia, V., Jonsson, M., Brauman, A., Hairiah, K., Mortimer, P. E., & Okubo, S. (2018). Contribution of trees to the conservation of biodiversity and ecosystem services in agricultural landscapes. *International Journal of Biodiversity Science, Ecosystem Services and Management*, 14(1), 1–16.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/21512722.2017.1200167/SUDDL_EUE/TESM_A_1200167_SM0477.DDL

https://doi.org/10.1080/21513732.2017.1399167/SUPPL_FILE/TBSM_A_1399167_SM9477.PDF

- Begum, N., Qin, C., Ahanger, M. A., Raza, S., Khan, M. I., Ashraf, M., Ahmed, N., & Zhang, L. (2019).
 Role of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi in Plant Growth Regulation: Implications in Abiotic Stress
 Tolerance. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *10*, 1068.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/FPLS.2019.01068/BIBTEX
- Beule, L., Lehtsaar, E., Rathgeb, A., & Karlovsky, P. (2019). Crop Diseases and Mycotoxin Accumulation in Temperate Agroforestry Systems. *Sustainability 2019, Vol. 11, Page 2925, 11*(10), 2925. https://doi.org/10.3390/SU11102925
- Biemans, H., Siderius, C., Lutz, A. F., Nepal, S., Ahmad, B., Hassan, T., von Bloh, W., Wijngaard, R. R., Wester, P., Shrestha, A. B., & Immerzeel, W. W. (2019). Importance of snow and glacier meltwater for agriculture on the Indo-Gangetic Plain. *Nature Sustainability 2019 2:7*, 2(7), 594– 601. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-019-0305-3
- Bohan, D. A., Raybould, A., Mulder, C., Woodward, G., Tamaddoni-Nezhad, A., Bluthgen, N., Pocock, M. J. O., Muggleton, S., Evans, D. M., Astegiano, J., Massol, F., Loeuille, N., Petit, S., & Macfadyen, S. (2013). Networking Agroecology: Integrating the Diversity of Agroecosystem Interactions. *Advances in Ecological Research*, *49*, 1–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-420002-9.00001-9
- Bohan, D. A., Richter, A., Bane, M., Therond, O., & Pocock, M. J. O. (2022). Farmer-led agroecology for biodiversity with climate change. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 37(11), 927–930. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TREE.2022.07.006

- Boinot, S., Mézière, D., Poulmarc'h, J., Saintilan, A., Lauri, P. E., & Sarthou, J. P. (2020). Promoting generalist predators of crop pests in alley cropping agroforestry fields: Farming system matters. *Ecological Engineering*, *158*, 106041. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ECOLENG.2020.106041
- Bongers, F. J., Schmid, B., Bruelheide, H., Bongers, F., Li, S., von Oheimb, G., Li, Y., Cheng, A., Ma, K., & Liu, X. (2021). Functional diversity effects on productivity increase with age in a forest biodiversity experiment. *Nature Ecology & Evolution 2021 5:12*, 5(12), 1594–1603. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-021-01564-3
- Borrelli, P., Robinson, D. A., Fleischer, L. R., Lugato, E., Ballabio, C., Alewell, C., Meusburger, K.,
 Modugno, S., Schütt, B., Ferro, V., Bagarello, V., Oost, K. Van, Montanarella, L., & Panagos, P.
 (2017). An assessment of the global impact of 21st century land use change on soil erosion. *Nature Communications*, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/S41467-017-02142-7
- Brondizio, E., Diaz, S., Josef, S., & Ngo, H. T. (2019). *Global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services*. https://doi.org/10.5281/ZENODO.6417333
- Bruhn, J. N., & Mihail, J. D. (2009). Forest farming of shiitake mushrooms: Aspects of forced fruiting. *Bioresource Technology*, 100(23), 5973–5978. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIORTECH.2009.01.079
- Burnett, G. (2008). Permaculture: A beginners guide (Vol. 2). Spiralseed.
- Cafaro, P. (2015). Three ways to think about the sixth mass extinction. *Biological Conservation*, *192*, 387–393. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIOCON.2015.10.017
- Capra, F., & Luisi, P. L. (2012). The systems view of life: A unifying vision. In *The Systems View of Life*. Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511895555
- Carsan, S., Stroebel, A., Dawson, I., Kindt, R., Mbow, C., Mowo, J., & Jamnadass, R. (2014). Can agroforestry option values improve the functioning of drivers of agricultural intensification in Africa? *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, 6(1), 35–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.COSUST.2013.10.007
- Centeno-Alvarado, D., Lopes, A. V., & Arnan, X. (2023). Fostering pollination through agroforestry: A global review. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 351*, 108478. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AGEE.2023.108478
- Cerda, R., Avelino, J., Harvey, C. A., Gary, C., Tixier, P., & Allinne, C. (2020). Coffee agroforestry systems capable of reducing disease-induced yield and economic losses while providing multiple ecosystem services. *Crop Protection*, 134, 105149. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CROPRO.2020.105149
- Chapagain, A. K., & James, K. (2013). Accounting for the Impact of Food Waste on Water Resources and Climate Change. *Food Industry Wastes Chapter 3*, 217–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-391921-2.00012-3
- Chaplin-Kramer, R., O'Rourke, M. E., Blitzer, E. J., & Kremen, C. (2011). A meta-analysis of crop pest and natural enemy response to landscape complexity. *Ecology Letters*, *14*(9), 922–932. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1461-0248.2011.01642.X

- Chatterjee, N., Nair, P. K. R., Chakraborty, S., & Nair, V. D. (2018). Changes in soil carbon stocks across the Forest-Agroforest-Agriculture/Pasture continuum in various agroecological regions: A metaanalysis. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 266*, 55–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AGEE.2018.07.014
- Chen, S., Wang, W., Xu, W., Wang, Y., Wan, H., Chen, D., Tang, Z., Tang, X., Zhou, G., Xie, Z., Zhou, D., Shangguan, Z., Huang, J., He, J. S., Wang, Y., Sheng, J., Tang, L., Li, X., Dong, M., ... Bai, Y. (2018). Plant diversity enhances productivity and soil carbon storage. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *115*(16), 4027–4032. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1700298114/SUPPL_FILE/PNAS.1700298114.SAPP.PDF
- Cole, L. J., Stockan, J., & Helliwell, R. (2020). Managing riparian buffer strips to optimise ecosystem services: A review. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 296, 106891. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AGEE.2020.106891
- Dastogeer, K. M. G., Zahan, M. I., Tahjib-UI-Arif, M., Akter, M. A., & Okazaki, S. (2020). Plant Salinity
 Tolerance Conferred by Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi and Associated Mechanisms: A Meta-Analysis. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *11*, 1927.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/FPLS.2020.588550/BIBTEX
- de Blécourt, M., Gröngröft, A., Baumann, S., & Eschenbach, A. (2019). Losses in soil organic carbon stocks and soil fertility due to deforestation for low-input agriculture in semi-arid southern Africa. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 165, 88–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JARIDENV.2019.02.006
- Delgado-Baquerizo, M., Maestre, F. T., Reich, P. B., Jeffries, T. C., Gaitan, J. J., Encinar, D., Berdugo, M., Campbell, C. D., & Singh, B. K. (2016). Microbial diversity drives multifunctionality in terrestrial ecosystems. *Nature Communications*, 7(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms10541
- Dhalaria, R., Kumar, D., Kumar, H., Nepovimova, E., Kuca, K., Islam, M. T., & Verma, R. (2020). Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi as Potential Agents in Ameliorating Heavy Metal Stress in Plants. *Agronomy 2020, Vol. 10, Page 815, 10*(6), 815. https://doi.org/10.3390/AGRONOMY10060815
- Dignac, M. F., Derrien, D., Barré, P., Barot, S., Cécillon, L., Chenu, C., Chevallier, T., Freschet, G. T., Garnier, P., Guenet, B., Hedde, M., Klumpp, K., Lashermes, G., Maron, P. A., Nunan, N., Roumet, C., & Basile-Doelsch, I. (2017). Increasing soil carbon storage: mechanisms, effects of agricultural practices and proxies. A review. *Agronomy for Sustainable Development 2017 37:2*, 37(2), 1–27. https://doi.org/10.1007/S13593-017-0421-2
- Dlamini, J. C., Cardenas, L. M., Tesfamariam, E. H., Dunn, R. M., Loick, N., Charteris, A. F., Cocciaglia, L., Vangeli, S., Blackwell, M. S. A., Upadhayay, H. R., Hawkins, J. M. B., Evans, J., & Collins, A. L. (2022). Riparian buffer strips influence nitrogen losses as nitrous oxide and leached N from upslope permanent pasture. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 336*, 108031. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AGEE.2022.108031
- D'Odorico, P., Bhattachan, A., Davis, K. F., Ravi, S., & Runyan, C. W. (2013). Global desertification: Drivers and feedbacks. *Advances in Water Resources*, *51*, 326–344. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ADVWATRES.2012.01.013

- Duniway, M. C., Pfennigwerth, A. A., Fick, S. E., Nauman, T. W., Belnap, J., & Barger, N. N. (2019).
 Wind erosion and dust from US drylands: a review of causes, consequences, and solutions in a changing world. *Ecosphere*, *10*(3), e02650. https://doi.org/10.1002/ECS2.2650
- Durand-Bessart, C., Tixier, P., Quinteros, A., Andreotti, F., Rapidel, B., Tauvel, C., & Allinne, C. (2020). Analysis of interactions amongst shade trees, coffee foliar diseases and coffee yield in multistrata agroforestry systems. *Crop Protection*, *133*, 105137. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CROPRO.2020.105137
- Ekholm, P., & Lehtoranta, J. (2012). Does control of soil erosion inhibit aquatic eutrophication? Journal of Environmental Management, 93(1), 140–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JENVMAN.2011.09.010
- Eleftheriadis, A., Lafuente, F., & Turrión, M. B. (2018). Effect of land use, time since deforestation and management on organic C and N in soil textural fractions. *Soil and Tillage Research*, *183*, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.STILL.2018.05.012
- Ellison, D., Morris, C. E., Locatelli, B., Sheil, D., Cohen, J., Murdiyarso, D., Gutierrez, V., Noordwijk, M. van, Creed, I. F., Pokorny, J., Gaveau, D., Spracklen, D. V., Tobella, A. B., Ilstedt, U., Teuling, A. J., Gebrehiwot, S. G., Sands, D. C., Muys, B., Verbist, B., ... Sullivan, C. A. (2017). Trees, forests and water: Cool insights for a hot world. *Global Environmental Change*, *43*, 51–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.GLOENVCHA.2017.01.002
- FAO. (n.d.). Desertification and land degradation | Action Against Desertification | Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Retrieved May 8, 2023, from https://www.fao.org/in-action/action-against-desertification/overview/desertification-andland-degradation/en/
- FAO. (2016). Global Soil Partnership endorses guidelines on sustainable soil management | Global Soil Partnership | Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. FAO. https://www.fao.org/global-soil-partnership/resources/highlights/detail/en/c/416516/
- FAO. (2018). Scaling up agroecology to achieve the sustainable development goals. *Proceedings of the Second FAO International Symposium*.
- FAO. (2020). Emissions due to agriculture. Global, regional and country trends. *FAOSTAT Analytical Brief Series No 18. Rome*.
- Favis-Mortlock, D. (2017). *The Soil Erosion Site Where does soil erosion occur?* Soilerosion.Net. http://soilerosion.net/where_erosion_occurs.html
- Fowler, D., Steadman, C. E., Stevenson, D., Coyle, M., Rees, R. M., Skiba, U. M., Sutton, M. A., Cape, J. N., Dore, A. J., Vieno, M., Simpson, D., Zaehle, S., Stocker, B. D., Rinaldi, M., Facchini, M. C., Flechard, C. R., Nemitz, E., Twigg, M., Erisman, J. W., ... Galloway, J. N. (2015). Effects of global change during the 21st century on the nitrogen cycle. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, 15(24), 13849–13893. https://doi.org/10.5194/ACP-15-13849-2015
- Fujisaki, K., Perrin, A. S., Garric, B., Balesdent, J., & Brossard, M. (2017). Soil organic carbon changes after deforestation and agrosystem establishment in Amazonia: An assessment by diachronic approach. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 245, 63–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AGEE.2017.05.011

- Gatti, L. V., Basso, L. S., Miller, J. B., Gloor, M., Gatti Domingues, L., Cassol, H. L. G., Tejada, G., Aragão, L. E. O. C., Nobre, C., Peters, W., Marani, L., Arai, E., Sanches, A. H., Corrêa, S. M., Anderson, L., Von Randow, C., Correia, C. S. C., Crispim, S. P., & Neves, R. A. L. (2021). Amazonia as a carbon source linked to deforestation and climate change. *Nature 2021 595:7867, 595*(7867), 388–393. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03629-6
- Gharibreza, M., Raj, J. K., Yusoff, I., Othman, Z., Tahir, W. Z. W. M., & Ashraf, M. A. (2013). Land use changes and soil redistribution estimation using 137Cs in the tropical Bera Lake catchment, Malaysia. *Soil and Tillage Research*, *131*, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.STILL.2013.02.010
- Ghosh, A., Kumar, R. V., Manna, M. C., Singh, A. K., Parihar, C. M., Kumar, S., Roy, A. K., & Koli, P. (2021). Eco-restoration of degraded lands through trees and grasses improves soil carbon sequestration and biological activity in tropical climates. *Ecological Engineering*, *162*, 106176. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ECOLENG.2021.106176
- Giadrossich, F., Cohen, D., Schwarz, M., Ganga, A., Marrosu, R., Pirastru, M., & Capra, G. F. (2019).
 Large roots dominate the contribution of trees to slope stability. *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms*, 44(8), 1602–1609. https://doi.org/10.1002/ESP.4597
- Global Forest Resources Assessment 2020. (2020). *Global Forest Resources Assessment 2020*. https://doi.org/10.4060/CA9825EN
- Graves, A. R., Burgess, P. J., Palma, J. H. N., Herzog, F., Moreno, G., Bertomeu, M., Dupraz, C., Liagre, F., Keesman, K., van der Werf, W., de Nooy, A. K., & van den Briel, J. P. (2007). Development and application of bio-economic modelling to compare silvoarable, arable, and forestry systems in three European countries. *Ecological Engineering*, *29*(4), 434–449. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ECOLENG.2006.09.018
- Gudeta, K., Kumar, V., Bhagat, A., Julka, J. M., Bhat, S. A., Ameen, F., Qadri, H., Singh, S., & Amarowicz, R. (2023). Ecological adaptation of earthworms for coping with plant polyphenols, heavy metals, and microplastics in the soil: A review. *Heliyon*, e14572. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2023.e14572
- Guo, J., Feng, H., Roberge, G., Feng, L., Pan, C., McNie, P., & Yu, Y. (2022). The negative effect of Chinese fir (Cunninghamia lanceolata) monoculture plantations on soil physicochemical properties, microbial biomass, fungal communities, and enzymatic activities. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 519, 120297. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FORECO.2022.120297
- Guo, Y., Abdalla, M., Espenberg, M., Hastings, A., Hallett, P., & Smith, P. (2021). A systematic analysis and review of the impacts of afforestation on soil quality indicators as modified by climate zone, forest type and age. *Science of The Total Environment*, 757, 143824. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2020.143824
- Hayek, M. N. (2022). The infectious disease trap of animal agriculture. *Science Advances*, 8(44), 6681. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIADV.ADD6681/ASSET/00A35F40-F479-4445-A149-CF7467C03356/ASSETS/IMAGES/LARGE/SCIADV.ADD6681-F3.JPG
- Henryson, K., Kätterer, T., Tidåker, P., & Sundberg, C. (2020). Soil N2O emissions, N leaching and marine eutrophication in life cycle assessment – A comparison of modelling approaches. *Science of The Total Environment*, 725, 138332. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2020.138332

- Herrero-Jáuregui, C., Guariguata, M. R., Cárdenas, D., Vilanova, E., Robles, M., Licona, J. C., & Nalvarte, W. (2013). Assessing the extent of "conflict of use" in multipurpose tropical forest trees: A regional view. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 130, 40–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JENVMAN.2013.08.044
- Horrigan, L., Lawrence, R. S., & Walker, P. (2002). How sustainable agriculture can address the environmental and human health harms of industrial agriculture. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *110*(5), 445. https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP.02110445
- Hu, X., Næss, J. S., Iordan, C. M., Huang, B., Zhao, W., & Cherubini, F. (2021). Recent global land cover dynamics and implications for soil erosion and carbon losses from deforestation. *Anthropocene*, 34, 100291. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ANCENE.2021.100291
- Huang, F., Chen, J., Du, Z., Yao, C., Huang, J., Jiang, Q., Chang, Z., & Li, S. (2020). Landslide
 Susceptibility Prediction Considering Regional Soil Erosion Based on Machine-Learning Models.
 ISPRS International Journal of Geo-Information 2020, Vol. 9, Page 377, 9(6), 377.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/IJGI9060377
- Huang, J., Kong, F., Yin, H., Middel, A., Liu, H., Zheng, X., Wen, Z., & Wang, D. (2022). Transpirational cooling and physiological responses of trees to heat. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, 320, 108940. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AGRFORMET.2022.108940
- Huang, S., Ghazali, S., Azadi, H., Movahhed Moghaddam, S., Viira, A. H., Janečková, K., Sklenička, P., Lopez-Carr, D., Köhl, M., & Kurban, A. (2023). Contribution of agricultural land conversion to global GHG emissions: A meta-analysis. *Science of The Total Environment*, *876*, 162269. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2023.162269
- Hurni, H., e, & with the assistance of an international group of contributors. (1996). Precious earth: from soil and water conservation to sustainable land management. *Wageningen, The Netherlands/Berne: International Soil Conservation Organisation and Centre for Development and Environment*. https://doi.org/10.3/JQUERY-UI.JS
- Hurni, H., Herweg, K., Portner, B., & Liniger, H. (2008). Soil erosion and conservation in global agriculture. *Land Use and Soil Resources*, 41–71. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-6778-5_4/COVER
- Ilstedt, U., Malmer, A., Verbeeten, E., & Murdiyarso, D. (2007). The effect of afforestation on water infiltration in the tropics: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Forest Ecology and Management*, *251*(1–2), 45–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FORECO.2007.06.014
- Jarrett, C., Smith, T. B., Claire, T. T. R., Ferreira, D. F., Tchoumbou, M., Elikwo, M. N. F., Wolfe, J., Brzeski, K., Welch, A. J., Hanna, R., & Powell, L. L. (2021). Bird communities in African cocoa agroforestry are diverse but lack specialized insectivores. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 58(6), 1237–1247. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13864
- Jobbagy, E. G., & Jackson, R. B. (2000). The Vertical Distribution of Soil Organic Carbon and Its Relation to Climate and Vegetation. *Ecological Applications*, *10*(2), 423. https://doi.org/10.2307/2641104

- John, D. A., & Babu, G. R. (2021). Lessons From the Aftermaths of Green Revolution on Food System and Health. *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems*, *5*, 21. https://doi.org/10.3389/FSUFS.2021.644559/BIBTEX
- Kaiser, J. (2004). Wounding Earth's fragile skin. *Science (New York, N.Y.), 304*(5677), 1616–1618. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.304.5677.1616
- Kaonga, M. L., & Coleman, K. (2008). Modelling soil organic carbon turnover in improved fallows in eastern Zambia using the RothC-26.3 model. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 256(5), 1160– 1166. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FORECO.2008.06.017
- Keenan, T. F., & Williams, C. A. (2018). The Terrestrial Carbon Sink. *Https://Doi.Org/10.1146/Annurev-Environ-102017-030204, 43,* 219–243. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV-ENVIRON-102017-030204
- Kenna, D., Graystock, P., Gill, R. J., & Richard Gill, C. J. (2023). Toxic temperatures: Bee behaviours exhibit divergent pesticide toxicity relationships with warming. *Global Change Biology*, 00, 1– 18. https://doi.org/10.1111/GCB.16671
- Khodadadi, M., Alewell, C., Mirzaei, M., Ehssan-Malahat, E., Asadzadeh, F., Strauss, P., & Meusburger, K. (2023). Understanding deforestation impacts on soil erosion rates using 137Cs, 239+240Pu, and 210Pbex and soil physicochemical properties in western Iran. *Journal of Environmental Radioactivity*, 257, 107078. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JENVRAD.2022.107078
- Klein, A. M., Steffan-Dewenter, I., & Tscharntke, T. (2003). Pollination of Coffea canephora in relation to local and regional agroforestry management. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 40(5), 837–845. https://doi.org/10.1046/J.1365-2664.2003.00847.X
- Klein, A. M., Vaissière, B. E., Cane, J. H., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Cunningham, S. A., Kremen, C., & Tscharntke, T. (2006). Importance of pollinators in changing landscapes for world crops. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 274(1608), 303–313. https://doi.org/10.1098/RSPB.2006.3721
- Kletty, F., Rozan, A., & Habold, C. (2023). Biodiversity in temperate silvoarable systems: A systematic review. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 351, 108480. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AGEE.2023.108480
- Köhl, M., Neupane, P. R., & Lotfiomran, N. (2017). The impact of tree age on biomass growth and carbon accumulation capacity: A retrospective analysis using tree ring data of three tropical tree species grown in natural forests of Suriname. *PLOS ONE*, *12*(8), e0181187. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0181187
- Kong, X., Ghaffar, S., Determann, M., Friese, K., Jomaa, S., Mi, C., Shatwell, T., Rinke, K., & Rode, M. (2022). Reservoir water quality deterioration due to deforestation emphasizes the indirect effects of global change. *Water Research*, *221*, 118721. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.WATRES.2022.118721
- Kuusemets, V., Mander, Ü., Lõhmus, K., & Ivask, M. (2001). Nitrogen and phosphorus variation in shallow groundwater and assimilation in plants in complex riparian buffer zones. *Water Science and Technology*, 44(11–12), 615–622. https://doi.org/10.2166/WST.2001.0888

- Landry, G., Thiffault, E., Cyr, D., Moreau, L., Boulanger, Y., & Dymond, C. (2021). Mitigation potential of ecosystem-based forest management under climate change: A case study in the Boreal-temperate forest ecotone. *Forests*, *12*(12), 1667. https://doi.org/10.3390/F12121667/S1
- Lehmann, L. M., Lysák, M., Schafer, L., & Henriksen, C. B. (2019). Quantification of the understorey contribution to carbon storage in a peri-urban temperate food forest. *Urban Forestry & Urban Greening*, *45*, 126359. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.UFUG.2019.06.002
- Lelamo, L. L. (2021). A review on the indigenous multipurpose agroforestry tree species in Ethiopia: management, their productive and service roles and constraints. *Heliyon*, 7(9), e07874. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.HELIYON.2021.E07874
- Lowrance, R. (1992). Groundwater Nitrate and Denitrification in a Coastal Plain Riparian Forest. Journal of Environmental Quality, 21(3), 401–405. https://doi.org/10.2134/JEQ1992.00472425002100030017X
- Lynch, J., Cain, M., Frame, D., & Pierrehumbert, R. (2021). Agriculture's Contribution to Climate Change and Role in Mitigation Is Distinct From Predominantly Fossil CO2-Emitting Sectors. *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems*, 4, 300. https://doi.org/10.3389/FSUFS.2020.518039/BIBTEX
- Maccagnani, B., Veromann, E., Ferrari, R., Boriani, L., & Boecking, O. (2020). Agroecosystem design supports the activity of pollinator networks. *Entomovectoring for Precision Biocontrol and Enhanced Pollination of Crops*, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-18917-4_1/TABLES/3
- Malone, T. C., & Newton, A. (2020). The Globalization of Cultural Eutrophication in the Coastal Ocean: Causes and Consequences. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, *7*, 670. https://doi.org/10.3389/FMARS.2020.00670/BIBTEX
- Marques, M. A., Anjos, L. H. C. dos, & Sanchez Delgado, A. R. (2022). Land Recovery and Soil Management with Agroforestry Systems. *Spanish Journal of Soil Science*, *12*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/SJSS.2022.10457/BIBTEX
- Mathur, S., Agnihotri, R., Sharma, M. P., Reddy, V. R., & Jajoo, A. (2021). Effect of High-Temperature Stress on Plant Physiological Traits and Mycorrhizal Symbiosis in Maize Plants. *Journal of Fungi*, 7(10), 867. https://doi.org/10.3390/jof7100867
- Mathur, S., Tomar, R. S., & Jajoo, A. (2019). Arbuscular Mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) protects photosynthetic apparatus of wheat under drought stress. *Photosynthesis Research*, *139*(1–3), 227–238. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11120-018-0538-4
- Mbagwu, J. S. C., & Auerswald, K. (1999). Relationship of percolation stability of soil aggregates to land use, selected properties, structural indices and simulated rainfall erosion. *Soil and Tillage Research*, *50*(3–4), 197–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-1987(99)00006-9
- McDowell, R. W., Noble, A., Pletnyakov, P., Haggard, B. E., & Mosley, L. M. (2020). Global mapping of freshwater nutrient enrichment and periphyton growth potential. *Scientific Reports 2020 10:1*, *10*(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-60279-w
- Milani, P., Torres-Aguilar, P., Hamaker, B., Manary, M., Abushamma, S., Laar, A., Steiner, R., Ehsani, M., de la Parra, J., Skaven-Ruben, D., de Kock, H., Hawkes, C., Covic, N., Mitchell, C., & Taylor, J.

(2022). The whole grain manifesto: From Green Revolution to Grain Evolution. *Global Food Security*, *34*, 100649. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.GFS.2022.100649

- Moreira, C. C., Celestino, D., Guerra Sobrinho, T., Cardoso, I. M., & Elliot, S. L. (2019). Agroforestry coffee soils increase the insect-suppressive potential offered by entomopathogenic fungi over full-sun soils: A case proposing a "bait survival technique." *Ecology and Evolution*, *9*(18), 10777. https://doi.org/10.1002/ECE3.5598
- Moreno, G. (2008). Response of understorey forage to multiple tree effects in Iberian dehesas. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 123*(1–3), 239–244. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AGEE.2007.04.006
- Morse, S. S., Mazet, J. A. K., Woolhouse, M., Parrish, C. R., Carroll, D., Karesh, W. B., Zambrana-Torrelio, C., Lipkin, W. I., & Daszak, P. (2012). Prediction and prevention of the next pandemic zoonosis. *The Lancet*, *380*(9857), 1956–1965. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61684-5
- Mosquera-Losada, M. R., Santiago Freijanes, J. J., Pisanelli, A., Rois, M., Smith, J., & den Herder, M. (2016). *Extent and Success of Current Policy Measures to Promote Agroforestry Across Europe*.
- Mosquera-Losada, M. R., Santos, M. G. S., Gonçalves, B., Ferreiro-Domínguez, N., Castro, M., Rigueiro-Rodríguez, A., González-Hernández, M. P., Fernández-Lorenzo, J. L., Romero-Franco, R., Aldrey-Vázquez, J. A., Sobrino, C. C., García-Berrios, J. J., & Santiago-Freijanes, J. J. (2023). Policy challenges for agroforestry implementation in Europe. *Frontiers in Forests and Global Change*, *6*, 1127601. https://doi.org/10.3389/FFGC.2023.1127601/BIBTEX
- Nair, P. K. R., Kumar, B. M., & Nair, V. D. (2021). *Multipurpose Trees (MPTs) and Other Agroforestry Species*. 281–351. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-75358-0_13
- Nearing, M. A., Xie, Y., Liu, B., & Ye, Y. (2017). Natural and anthropogenic rates of soil erosion. International Soil and Water Conservation Research, 5(2), 77–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ISWCR.2017.04.001
- Oldeman, L. R., Hakkeling, R. T. A., & Sombroek, W. G. (1990). World map of the status of humaninduced soil erosion: An explanatory note. *Wageningen, The Netherlands and Nairobi, Kenya: International Soil Reference and Information Centre and the United Nations Environment Programme*.
- Panklang, P., Thaler, P., Thoumazeau, A., Chiarawipa, R., Sdoodee, S., & Brauman, A. (2022). How 75 years of rubber monocropping affects soil fauna and nematodes as the bioindicators for soil biodiversity quality index. *Https://Doi.Org/10.1080/09064710.2022.2034930*, 72(1), 612–622. https://doi.org/10.1080/09064710.2022.2034930
- Pardon, P., Reubens, B., Mertens, J., Verheyen, K., De Frenne, P., De Smet, G., Van Waes, C., & Reheul, D. (2018). Effects of temperate agroforestry on yield and quality of different arable intercrops. *Agricultural Systems*, *166*, 135–151. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AGSY.2018.08.008
- Pieterse, C. M. J., Zamioudis, C., Berendsen, R. L., Weller, D. M., Van Wees, S. C. M., & Bakker, P. A. H.
 M. (2014). Induced systemic resistance by beneficial microbes. *Annual Review of Phytopathology*, *52*, 347–375. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-phyto-082712-102340

- Pimentel, D., Allen, J., Beers, A., Guinand, L., Linder, R., McLaughlin, P., Meer, B., Musonda, D.,
 Perdue, D., Poisson, S., Siebert, S., Stoner, K., Salazar, R., & Hawkins, A. (1987). World
 Agriculture and Soil Erosion. *BioScience*, *37*(4), 277–283. https://doi.org/10.2307/1310591
- Pimentel, D., Harvey, C., Resosudarmo, P., Sinclair, K., Kurz, D., McNair, M., Crist, S., Shpritz, L., Fitton, L., Saffouri, R., & Blair, R. (1995). Environmental and economic costs of soil erosion and conservation benefits. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, *267*(5201), 1117–1123. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.267.5201.1117
- Poesen, J. W. A., Verstraeten, G., Soenens, R., & Seynaeve, L. (2001). Soil losses due to harvesting of chicory roots and sugar beet: an underrated geomorphic process? *CATENA*, 43(1), 35–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0341-8162(00)00125-9
- Pumariño, L., Sileshi, G. W., Gripenberg, S., Kaartinen, R., Barrios, E., Muchane, M. N., Midega, C., & Jonsson, M. (2015). Effects of agroforestry on pest, disease and weed control: A meta-analysis. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, 16(7), 573–582. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BAAE.2015.08.006
- Qiao, X., Sun, T., Lei, J., Xiao, L., Xue, L., Zhang, H., Jia, J., & Bei, S. (2022). Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi contribute to wheat yield in an agroforestry system with different tree ages. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *13*. https://doi.org/10.3389/FMICB.2022.1024128
- Quandt, A., Neufeldt, H., & Gorman, K. (2023). Climate change adaptation through agroforestry: opportunities and gaps. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, *60*, 101244. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.COSUST.2022.101244
- Rajão, R., Soares-Filho, B., Nunes, F., Börner, J., Machado, L., Assis, D., Oliveira, A., Pinto, L., Ribeiro, V., Rausch, L., Gibbs, H., & Figueira, D. (2020). The rotten apples of Brazil's agribusiness. *Science*, *369*(6501), 246–248. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.ABA6646/SUPPL_FILE/ABA6646_RAJAO_SM.PDF
- Ramos-Jiliberto, R., Moisset de Espanés, P., & Vázquez, D. P. (2020). Pollinator declines and the stability of plant–pollinator networks. *Ecosphere*, *11*(4), e03069. https://doi.org/10.1002/ECS2.3069
- Reisner, Y., de Filippi, R., Herzog, F., & Palma, J. (2007). Target regions for silvoarable agroforestry in Europe. *Ecological Engineering*, *29*(4), 401–418. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ECOLENG.2006.09.020
- Reynolds, P. E., Simpson, J. A., Thevathasan, N. V., & Gordon, A. M. (2007). Effects of tree competition on corn and soybean photosynthesis, growth, and yield in a temperate tree-based agroforestry intercropping system in southern Ontario, Canada. *Ecological Engineering*, 29(4), 362–371. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ECOLENG.2006.09.024
- Rigueiro-Rodríguez, A., Fernández-Núñez, E., González-Hernández, P., McAdam, J. H., & Mosquera-Losada, M. R. (2009). Agroforestry in Europe, Chapter 3: Agroforestry Systems in Europe: Productive, Ecological and Social Perspectives (Vol. 6).
- Riolo, F. (2019). The social and environmental value of public urban food forests: The case study of the Picasso Food Forest in Parma, Italy. *Urban Forestry & Urban Greening*, *45*, 126225. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.UFUG.2018.10.002

- Robinson, D. A., & Blackman, J. D. (1990). Soil erosion and flooding: Consequences on land use policy and agricultural practice on the South Downs, East Sussex, UK. *Land Use Policy*, 7(1), 41–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/0264-8377(90)90053-2
- Rockström, J., Steffen, W., Noone, K., Persson, Å., Chapin, F. S., Lambin, E. F., Lenton, T. M., Scheffer, M., Folke, C., Schellnhuber, H. J., Nykvist, B., De Wit, C. A., Hughes, T., Van Der Leeuw, S., Rodhe, H., Sörlin, S., Snyder, P. K., Costanza, R., Svedin, U., ... Foley, J. A. (2009). A safe operating space for humanity. *Nature 2009* 461:7263, 461(7263), 472–475. https://doi.org/10.1038/461472a
- Rosa-Schleich, J., Loos, J., Mußhoff, O., & Tscharntke, T. (2019). Ecological-economic trade-offs of Diversified Farming Systems – A review. *Ecological Economics*, *160*, 251–263. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ECOLECON.2019.03.002
- Sánchez, I. A., Lassaletta, L., McCollin, D., & Bunce, R. G. H. (2010). The effect of hedgerow loss on microclimate in the Mediterranean region: An investigation in Central Spain. Agroforestry Systems, 78(1), 13–25. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10457-009-9224-Z/FIGURES/6
- Sanchez, P. A. (1999). Improved fallows come of age in the tropics. *Agroforestry Systems*, 47(1–3), 3–12. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1006287702265/METRICS
- Santos, M., Cajaiba, R. L., Bastos, R., Gonzalez, D., Petrescu Bakış, A. L., Ferreira, D., Leote, P., Barreto da Silva, W., Cabral, J. A., Gonçalves, B., & Mosquera-Losada, M. R. (2022). Why Do Agroforestry Systems Enhance Biodiversity? Evidence From Habitat Amount Hypothesis Predictions. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, 9, 1008. https://doi.org/10.3389/FEVO.2021.630151/BIBTEX
- Schmitz, A., Sanders, T. G. M., Bolte, A., Bussotti, F., Dirnböck, T., Johnson, J., Peñuelas, J., Pollastrini, M., Prescher, A. K., Sardans, J., Verstraeten, A., & de Vries, W. (2019). Responses of forest ecosystems in Europe to decreasing nitrogen deposition. *Environmental Pollution*, 244, 980–994. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVPOL.2018.09.101
- Sharma, H., Pant, K. S., Bishist, R., Lal Gautam, K., Ludarmani, Dogra, R., Kumar, M., & Kumar, A. (2023). Estimation of biomass and carbon storage potential in agroforestry systems of north western Himalayas, India. *CATENA*, 225, 107009. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CATENA.2023.107009
- Simms, A. (1999). Selling Suicide: farming, false promises and genetic engineering in developing countries. Christian Aid.
- Singh, J. (2018). Role of Earthworm in Sustainable Agriculture. Sustainable Food Systems from Agriculture to Industry: Improving Production and Processing, 83–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-811935-8.00003-2
- Skidmore, M. E., Moffette, F., Rausch, L., Christie, M., Munger, J., & Gibbs, H. K. (2021). Cattle ranchers and deforestation in the Brazilian Amazon: Production, location, and policies. *Global Environmental Change*, *68*, 102280. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.GLOENVCHA.2021.102280
- Smith, M. M., Bentrup, G., Kellerman, T., MacFarland, K., Straight, R., Ameyaw, Lord, & Stein, S. (2022). Silvopasture in the USA: A systematic review of natural resource professional and producer-reported benefits, challenges, and management activities. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 326, 107818. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AGEE.2021.107818

- St.Clair, S. B., & Lynch, J. P. (2010). The opening of Pandora's Box: Climate change impacts on soil fertility and crop nutrition in developing countries. *Plant and Soil*, *335*(1), 101–115. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11104-010-0328-Z/FIGURES/4
- Steffen, W., Richardson, K., Rockström, J., Cornell, S. E., Fetzer, I., Bennett, E. M., Biggs, R., Carpenter, S. R., De Vries, W., De Wit, C. A., Folke, C., Gerten, D., Heinke, J., Mace, G. M., Persson, L. M., Ramanathan, V., Reyers, B., & Sörlin, S. (2015). Planetary boundaries: Guiding human development on a changing planet. *Science*, *347*(6223). https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.1259855
- Sun, W., Niu, X., Wang, Y., Yin, X., Teng, H., Gao, P., & Liu, A. (2023). Effects of forest age on soil erosion and nutrient loss in Dianchi watershed, China. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 195(2), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10661-023-10920-8/TABLES/5
- Swieter, A., Langhof, M., Lamerre, J., & Greef, J. M. (2019). Long-term yields of oilseed rape and winter wheat in a short rotation alley cropping agroforestry system. *Agroforestry Systems*, 93(5), 1853–1864. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10457-018-0288-5/TABLES/2
- Thirkell, T. J., Pastok, D., & Field, K. J. (2020). Carbon for nutrient exchange between arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and wheat varies according to cultivar and changes in atmospheric carbon dioxide concentration. *Global Change Biology*, *26*(3), 1725–1738. https://doi.org/10.1111/GCB.14851
- Tilman, D., Isbell, F., & Cowles, J. M. (2014). Biodiversity and Ecosystem Functioning. *Https://Doi.Org/10.1146/Annurev-Ecolsys-120213-091917*, 45, 471–493. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV-ECOLSYS-120213-091917
- Tscharntke, T., Clough, Y., Bhagwat, S. A., Buchori, D., Faust, H., Hertel, D., Hölscher, D., Juhrbandt, J., Kessler, M., Perfecto, I., Scherber, C., Schroth, G., Veldkamp, E., & Wanger, T. C. (2011).
 Multifunctional shade-tree management in tropical agroforestry landscapes a review. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, *48*(3), 619–629. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-2664.2010.01939.X
- Villarino, S. H., Studdert, G. A., Baldassini, P., Cendoya, M. G., Ciuffoli, L., Mastrángelo, M., & Piñeiro, G. (2017). Deforestation impacts on soil organic carbon stocks in the Semiarid Chaco Region, Argentina. *Science of The Total Environment*, *575*, 1056–1065. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2016.09.175
- Wang, H., Zhang, X., Shan, H., Chaochao Iv, Ren, W., Wen, Z., Tian, Y., Weigel, B., Ni, L., & Cao, T. (2022). Biodiversity buffers the impact of eutrophication on ecosystem functioning of submerged macrophytes on the Yunnan-Guizhou Plateau, Southwest China. *Environmental Pollution*, *314*, 120210. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVPOL.2022.120210
- Wang, L., Zheng, F., Hu, W., Zhang, X. J., & Shi, H. (2023). Interactive effects of rainfall intensity, kinetic energy and antecedent soil moisture regime on splash erosion in the Ultisol region of South China. *CATENA*, 222, 106863. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CATENA.2022.106863
- Wang, X., Oenema, O., Hoogmoed, W. B., Perdok, U. D., & Cai, D. (2006). Dust storm erosion and its impact on soil carbon and nitrogen losses in northern China. *CATENA*, 66(3), 221–227. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CATENA.2006.02.006

- Wang, X., Zhou, M., Li, T., Ke, Y., & Zhu, B. (2017). Land use change effects on ecosystem carbon budget in the Sichuan Basin of Southwest China: Conversion of cropland to forest ecosystem. *Science of the Total Environment*, 609, 556–562. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2017.07.167
- Wanvestraut, R. H., Jose, S., Ramachandran Nair, P. K., & Brecke, B. J. (2004). Competition for water in a pecan (Carya illinoensis K. Koch) - Cotton (Gossypium hirsutum L.) alley cropping system in the southern United States. *Agroforestry Systems*, 60(2), 167–179. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:AGFO.0000013292.29487.7A/METRICS
- Weiner, C. N., Werner, M., Linsenmair, K. E., & Blüthgen, N. (2014). Land-use impacts on plant– pollinator networks: interaction strength and specialization predict pollinator declines. *Ecology*, *95*(2), 466–474. https://doi.org/10.1890/13-0436.1
- Wooliver, R., Kivlin, S. N., & Jagadamma, S. (2022). Links Among Crop Diversification, Microbial Diversity, and Soil Organic Carbon: Mini Review and Case Studies. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 13, 1378. https://doi.org/10.3389/FMICB.2022.854247/BIBTEX
- Yahya, M. S., Atikah, S. N., Mukri, I., Sanusi, R., Norhisham, A. R., & Azhar, B. (2022). Agroforestry orchards support greater avian biodiversity than monoculture oil palm and rubber tree plantations. *Forest Ecology and Management*, *513*, 120177. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FORECO.2022.120177
- Yan, X., Liu, J., Rühland, K. M., Dong, H., He, J., & Smol, J. P. (2022). Human deforestation outweighed climate as factors affecting Yellow River floods and erosion on the Chinese Loess Plateau since the 10th century. *Quaternary Science Reviews*, 295, 107796. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.QUASCIREV.2022.107796
- Zhao, T., Xu, H., He, Y., Tai, C., Meng, H., Zeng, F., & Xing, M. (2009). Agricultural non-point nitrogen pollution control function of different vegetation types in riparian wetlands: A case study in the Yellow River wetland in China. *Journal of Environmental Sciences*, 21(7), 933–939. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1001-0742(08)62364-5
- Zomer, R. J., Neufeldt, H., Xu, J., Ahrends, A., Bossio, D., Trabucco, A., Van Noordwijk, M., & Wang, M. (2016). Global Tree Cover and Biomass Carbon on Agricultural Land: The contribution of agroforestry to global and national carbon budgets. *Scientific Reports 2016 6:1*, 6(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep29987